TGEGKXGF. '714; 14235'36-35-5. "Vj qo cu'F 0J cm'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2102

LOWER COURT CASE NO. CF02-05203A-XX

HAROLD BLAKE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McCLAIN & McDERMOTT, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd. Suite 118-61 Estero, FL 33928 (850)322-2172 F (954)564-5412 lindammcdermott@msn.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

The errors that occurred in Harold Blake's case were caused individually and collaboratively by due process violations by the State, an unreasonable failure to investigate by trial counsel and by witnesses who were rewarded for making false statements that they perceived law enforcement wanted them to make and which they believed would personally benefit them. This conflux of errors produced severe prejudice to Blake. And, though the errors may not have been caused by a single party, this Court has held that the prejudice analysis must consider the errors not only individually, but also cumulatively. <u>See Parker v. State</u>, 89 So. 3d 844, 860, 867 (Fla. 2011); <u>State v. Gunsby</u>, 670 So. 2d 920, 924 (Fla. 1996).

The evidence linking Blake to the attempted robbery and murder of Maheshkumar Patel essentially came from two witnesses: Teresa Jones and Demetrius Jones. Blake also made a statement that was secretly videotaped by law enforcement. No other witness placed Blake in the vehicle used in the crimes or at the scene. There was no physical evidence linking Blake to the crimes, except a fingerprint on the stolen vehicle.¹ However, what was seemingly lost on law enforcement, the prosecution, the defense and Teresa Jones was the existence of a video

¹Both Richard Green's and Demetrius Jones' fingerprints were also identified on the vehicle. Jones was never charged with any crime related to August 12, 2002. And, though numerous witnesses identified Green as possessing the 9 mm gun used to shoot the victim after the crime and informed law enforcement that he shot the victim, he was not charged with any crime related to the Patel homicide until June, 2004 - nearly two years after the crimes.

surveillance tape that was recovered from the victim's store. The scene caught on tape, including the image of the shooter, undermines the prosecution's theory and evidence that was presented to the jury. In addition, a plethora of evidence supports what the video reflects: Richard Green approaching the store with his head and face concealed, gun raised, attempting to enter the store and firing one shot through the glass door that hit the victim in the arm. The victim, did not appear to be badly hurt as he continued to move around the store and look out of the door before collapsing several seconds after being shot. <u>See State's Ex. 72 (TRIAL).</u>

Green testified in March, 2011, that he was indeed the shooter and he approached the store not having told Blake or Key of his intent to rob the store (PC-R. 1533-4). The evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing conclusively supports Green's testimony. Blake is entitled to a new trial where a jury can hear all of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE²

The Circuit Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Polk County, Florida entered the judgments of convictions and death sentence at issue.

On August 29, 2002, Mr. Blake was indicted with one count of first degree murder, one count of attempted armed robbery and one count of grand theft (auto) (R. 102-5). On September 10, 2002,

²The following abbreviations will be utilized to cite to the record: "R. _." - record on direct appeal; "T. __" - transcript of the trial on direct appeal; "PC-R. _." - record on appeal on postconviction;"Ex. __." - exhibits.

the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty (R. 109).

After the Public Defender's Office declared a conflict, on November 12, 2002, Attorney Gil Colon was appointed to represent Mr. Blake (R. 128).

A motion to suppress hearing was held on February 10, 2005 (R. 194-311).

Mr. Blake's trial commenced on February 21, 2005. Four days later, on February 25, 2005, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all the counts charged (R. 316-8).

Mr. Blake's penalty phase commenced on April 19, 2005. The next day, the jury recommended the death sentence (R. 334).

On May 13, 2005, the trial court sentenced Mr. Blake to death for the first degree murder charge (R. 401-7).

This Court affirmed Mr. Blake's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. <u>Blake v. State</u>, 972 So. 2d 839 (Fla. 2007). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on May 12, 2008. <u>Blake v. Florida</u>, 128 S.Ct. 2442 (2008).

On April 16, 2009, Mr. Blake filed a Rule 3.851 (PC-R. 332-409). The State responded to the motion on June 12, 2009 (PC-R. 452-87).

On January 4, 2010, Mr. Blake's filed an amended Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R. 718-822).

An evidentiary hearing was held on March 28 - April 1, 2011, and June 19 - 20, 2012. On July 23, 2013, closing arguments were submitted by the parties (PC-R. 7418-7514, 7516-98).

On August 31, 2012, the circuit court granted in part, and

denied in part, Mr. Blake's Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R. 7600-99).

Mr. Blake timely filed a notice of appeal as to the denial of guilt phase relief (PC-R. 7700).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE TRIAL

On August 12, 2002, at 5:30 a.m., Donovan Steverson exited his home and saw a black male with braids walking to a car parked in the parking lot of Steverson's building (T. 580-1).³ Steverson's building was located near Del's Go Shop and the two buildings were separated by a fence (T. 580). The car left the parking lot (T. 582).

Just after 6:00 a.m., a single gunshot rang out on Coleman Road in Polk County (T. 434-5). Steverson heard the gunshot and ran to the fence where he saw a black male with braids run away from the entrance of Del's Go Shop to the same car he had seen parked near his building minutes before (T. 584, 588).

Trisha Alderman also heard the gunshot and looked out her window and saw a black male, with short black hair (not bald), running to a parked car away from the entrance to Del's Go Shop (T. 435, 444-5). The man was waiving a gun as he ran (T. 444-5). Alderman thought there were three individuals in the car awaiting the fleeing man (T. 444).

Denard Keaton also heard the "pop" (T. 451). Just prior to hearing the gunshot he had seen one young, short, black male walking towards Del's Go Shop (T. 453, 461). After the "pop", he

³In August, 2002, Harold Blake was bald; Richard Green and Kevin Key had braids or dreadlocks (T. 658, 666, 683, 861).

watched the person enter a champagne-goldish colored car (T. 454). There were at least two other individuals in the car who appeared to be black (T. 454); one of them had a large afro (T. 464). The car pulled onto Coleman Road and proceeded north (T. 457).

Maheshkumar "Mike" Patel, the owner of Del's Go Shop had been shot. The medical examiner testified that Mr. Patel had two gunshot wounds - one to his left arm and one to his left armpit (T. 901). The bullet had entered Mr. Patel's arm, exited and reentered his body where it went through his heart (T. 904). Mr. Patel died within seconds or minutes, at the most (T. 904).

Detective Glenda Eichholtz responded to the crime scene and was instructed to locate the suspects' car, if possible (T. 480-1). Eichholtz located the abandoned car shortly after the shooting, not far from the scene (T. 481). The car was still running and the lights were on (T. 481-2). The rear passenger side window was broken and there was damage to the steering column (T. 482).⁴ Deputy Scott Billo and his K-9 responded to the scene of the abandoned car (T. 498). The K-9 tracked from the front seat of the car to apartment 2633 Avenue C in the Lake Deer Apartment complex (T. 499).

Teresa Jones lived next door, in apartment 2631 with Richard Green and her children (T. 593). According to Jones' trial testimony, on August 12, 2002, at approximately 7:30 a.m., Green

 $^{^{4}}Wanda$ Petranick owned the car and had last seen it in her driveway on the evening of August 11, 2002 (T. 490). She had not loaned it to anyone (T. 492).

came to her apartment with Harold Blake and another boy, who she knew as "Red Man" (T. 595). Jones left with Green, Blake and Red Man in her car. She dropped Red Man off at a store and dropped Blake off at a motel (T. 598). However, before dropping them off, they went to the location of a car on the side of the road and someone got out (T. 599). Jones could not remember if Blake or Red Man got out of the car, but agreed that she had told the grand jury that it was Blake (T. 599-602). She also agreed that in her initial statements she told law enforcement that Blake had retrieved two guns from the car (T. 603-4). Jones testified:

Q: Does that refresh your memory as to whether Mr. Blake has said he had shot anybody?

A: Yes.

Q: Did he tell you he had shot someone that day?

A: Yes.

(T. 607).

Upon returning to her apartment, Jones spoke to the policemen and mentioned that someone had come to her apartment (T. 612-3). However, she did not mention Green (T. 613).

At trial, on cross-examination, Jones confessed that she initially told the police what she believed they wanted to hear (T. 864). She also conceded that she previously testified that she did not see Blake take any guns from the stolen car (T. 866). Finally, Jones admitted that she had lied to the grand jury (T. 890).

On August 14, 2002, Blake was taken into custody (T. 752). Detective Louis Giampavolo testified that he read Blake his

Miranda warnings while he (Blake) was in the back of the police car (T. 753). Giampavolo denied threatening Blake or making him any promises (T. 768-9).

Detective Kenneth Raczynski, Giampavolo and Blake arrived at the police station at approximately 5:00 p.m. (T. 756). According to Giampavolo, Blake admitted to stealing a car in the early morning hours of August 12th (T. 758). Blake went on to state that he had gone to Green's house in Winter Haven in the stolen vehicle with "Kay-Kay" (T. 759-60). However, Blake maintained that he was not involved with the shooting of Mr. Patel (T. 760). Blake later began crying and told the detectives that he was present when Mr. Patel was shot. He originally stated that all three of the men got out of the car and that he possessed the 9 mm (T. 763). Blake said that when he got to the door of Del's Go Shop he saw the victim make a sudden movement and accidentally fired the gun (T. 764-5).

Raczynski and Giampavolo requested that Blake allow them to tape his statement. Blake refused, but the police secretly videotaped the next part of the interview (T. 766). The videotape was introduced and shown to the jury (771-90).⁵ During the secretly videotaped statement a shirtless and shivering Blake told the detectives that they were parked behind a fence when a dog barked at them, so they left the area and went back to the

⁵In his taped statement, Blake contradicted the statement that he allegedly gave to the detectives before the videotape was turned on. For example, initially, Blake said he picked up Green at his grandmother's house. On the videotape, Blake said that he picked up Green at the Lake Deer apartments. <u>See</u> T. 760, 774.

Lake Deer apartments.⁶ Later, they came back to the store (T. 776). All three of them (Blake, Green and an individual whose name was unknown to Blake) went to the door and Blake shot the victim because the victim scared him (T. 777-8). At this point on the video Blake re-enacted his walking to the door of the store with his arm and the gun down at his side (T. 778). Blake could not remember which door he shot through (T. 781).

There was physical evidence obtained from Del's Go Shop. Crime Scene Analyst, Linda Raczynski, recovered a spent casing from the crime scene and a jacket of bullet that was located in the victim's arm and a bullet that was located in the chest of the victim (T. 530, 555).

Later, a 9mm gun was recovered from Lake Conine (T. 693-4). The State's expert testified that the copper jacket that was recovered from the victim's arm was fired from the 9mm found in the lake "with the exclusion of all other firearms in the world" (T. 730-1).

Also, while some of the glass fragments found on Blake's sneakers matched the glass from the window of the stolen car, none of the glass matched the glass from the shattered door at Del's Go Shop (T. 705-6).

A videotape was recovered from Del's Go Shop that captured the incident on video (T. 831). It was shown to the jury at trial (T. 840, 909-10, <u>see also</u> State's Ex. 72).

Finally, Green's right palm print was located in the stolen

⁶Blake's statement was not supported by the neighborhood witnesses' testimony.

car. Blake's right middle finger was also located in the stolen car. And, a latent print obtained from the stolen car that did not match Green or Blake was submitted to AFIS (T. 821). The print was identified from a subject named Demetrius Jones (T. 821).

Demetrius Jones had known Green for two or three years and called him by his street name, "Plump" (T. 629-30). In August, 2002, Jones had only known Blake for a few weeks (T. 631). Jones testified that in the early morning hours of August 12, 2002, he was outside with Green, Blake and Kevin Key, and Kevie (T. 631-2). Key's street name was "Red Man" (T. 632). Green, Blake and Key had arrived at about 3:00 or 4: 00 a.m., in a car driven by Blake (T. 634). Green and Key cleaned glass from the backseat (T. 636). Jones saw two guns - a .38 revolver and a 9mm (T. 637). Green had the revolver and the 9mm was in the front seat (T. 637). Green wore a hooded sweatshirt and had the gun in the pocket of the sweatshirt (T. 638). Jones was asked to accompany the trio to Lakeland to "rob people who sell drugs" (T. 638).⁷ Jones spoke to Kevie and Kevie told him not to go, so Jones did not (T. 639). When the trio left, Green was driving (T. 640).

Later that day, about 12:00 p.m., Jones saw Blake on Avenue Y (T. 645). According to Jones, Blake was "acting like he was nervous, like something happened" and that "somebody got shot" (T. 646-7). At this time, Blake asked Jones to help get rid of a

 $^{^{7}\}text{On}$ cross-examination, Jones clarified that Blake was not present when the group discussed robbing people (T. 671-2). In fact, when Blake did arrive, he stated that he did not want to do that (T. 673-4).

gun, though he never saw a gun (T. 647).

Still later that day, at about 6:30 p.m., Jones ran into Green and Teresa Jones in the same area (T. 645). Green had a 9 mm and he and Jones tried to sell it (T. 651). The two eventually separated after unsuccessfully attempting to sell the gun (T. 652). But, later, Jones saw Green again and they went to Lake Conine (T. 653). At this time Green threw the 9 mm into the lake (T. 654).

At his trial, Blake testified. He told the jury that Green and Key had come to the motel where he was staying at about 3:00 a.m. on August 12th (T. 932). Blake left with them and helped steal a car (T. 935-6). The three went to a house where they stole some pressure washers and power tools (T. 937). They took the stolen items to Demetrius Jones' house and dropped them off (T. 938). Green, Key and Jones discussed committing a robbery of a drug dealer and Blake told them that he did not want any involvement in a robbery (T. 940). Blake told them to take him back to the motel (T. 942). The three got in the car. Key made two stops - one in a parking lot where Green got out of the car for a few minutes and then at Del's Go Shop (T. 945-6). Blake thought that they stopped at the store to get cigarettes but then heard what he thought was two gunshots (T. 946). Blake maintained that he did not know that Green intended to commit a robbery (T. 951).

Green reentered the car and the three drove off, abandoning the car moments later and setting off on foot. Green led them to Teresa Jones' apartment where Blake insisted that Jones give him

a ride back to the motel (T. 949-51). They all got into Jones' car and Green told her to go back to the stolen car where he got out and wiped down the car (T. 956). Jones then dropped Blake off at the motel (T. 956).

Blake also testified that he was never read his rights (T. 968). Giampavolo told Blake that he was facing the death penalty (T. 971). The detectives also told Blake about Green and Teresa Jones' statements and played Green's taped statement for him (T. 977, 979). Det. Navarro came into the room and told Blake that he should say it was an accident (T. 975).

Blake was placed in a holding cell where he was withdrawing from the drugs he had taken that day (T. 980). It was in the cell where he made a deal with Giampavolo: Blake would tell him what he wanted to hear and Giampavolo would let Blake call his girlfriend to come and pick him up (T. 982). Blake thought he was going to go home if he told them that he did it; Blake reasoned that both Green and Teresa Jones were permitted to go home after making statements (T. 983).

The jury found Mr. Blake guilty as charged (R. 316-8).

B. THE POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

Richard Green Attempted to Rob and Shot Mr. Patel Without Blake's Knowledge.

Green planned the robbery and shot Patel.

a. Green's admission

On March 28, 2011, Green testified that he and Key had planned to watch Patel's place of business in the early morning of August 12, 2002 (PC-R. 1531-2). But, when they arrived at

Del's Go Shop Patel was already there (PC-R. 1533). Green exited the vehicle and approached the store with a 9 mm gun (PC-R. 1531-3). Green had not told Blake or Key that he planned to commit a robbery (PC-R. 1534). When Green exited the vehicle he adjusted his hoodie and pushed his dreads back under it (PC-R. 1534). Patel came to the door and Green said he panicked and fired a shot (PC-R. 1533).

Green testified that Blake did not shoot anyone and did not even have a firearm (PC-R. 1536).

Green told Teresa Jones that he was surprised that the victim was killed because he did not think that the victim had been hit (PC-R. 1537-8). Parker may have overheard him say this (PC-R. 1538).

Green admitted lying to law enforcement when he said that Blake was the shooter (PC-R. 1539).

b. the videotape & the red shorts

At trial, the jury viewed the crime scene video surveillance tape. Though the identity of the individual in the tape was difficult to determine, the individual appeared to be wearing a pair of red shorts and a grey hooded sweatshirt. <u>See</u> State's Ex. 72 (Trial); Def. Ex. 65. The shorts were a solid red - there was no other color and no pattern on the shorts (State's Ex. 72 (Trial); Def. Ex. 65). Indeed, according to Renee Arlt, the evidence technician who enhanced the videotape: "A subject is seen with his face covered up to his eye, wearing a grey hooded sweatshirt, red shorts and white sneakers" (Def. Ex. 65).

Green's clothes were collected from him at 10:00 p.m. on the

night of the crimes. The items were described as "cotton shorts from Richard Green" <u>See</u> Def. Exs. 20, 21 and 25.

When Blake was arrested at Priscilla Hatcher's home two days after the crimes, clothes were collected from a closet. <u>See</u> Def. Ex. 26. Det. Harkins described the clothes as "misc. clothes to include a pair of red shorts that Blake was believed to have been wearing at the time of the homicide." (Def. Ex. 26).

The clothes of Green and those collected from Hatcher's closet were submitted to FDLE for analysis to determine whether glass was present. Again, the item from Green was described as: "cotton shorts from Richard Green" while the items submitted from Hatcher's closet were described as: "clothes-multiple (specifically Blake's pair of red shorts)". <u>See</u> Def. Ex. 21. In addition, law enforcement submitted a pair of plaid blue shorts, a black t-shirt and dark blue slacks, from Blake for analysis (Def. Ex. 21).

However, what the State failed to reveal to trial counsel was that the color of Green's shorts was red. <u>See</u> Def. Exs. 63 and 64. And, the items collected from Hatcher's closet do not include a pair of solid red shorts like those in the video surveillance tape. Rather, the clothes collected from Hatcher's closet included four items: a pair of blue pants, a pair of women's pink pants (size 16), a pair of plaid boxer shorts (red, white and blue) and a pair of plaid shorts (red, white and blue) (PC-R. 6965-7).

Furthermore, by 9:00 a.m. on August 12, 2002, before the video surveillance tape had been enhanced, Teresa Jones had

provided law enforcement with a description of Blake and what he was wearing: "5'10" tall, between 160-170 lbs., last seen wearing a blue sweater, dark pants and a bald head." <u>See</u> Def. Ex. 22.

c. the eyewitness descriptions of the shooter At Blake's trial, when Donovan Steverson testified as a State's witness, he told the jury that he had seen a black male with braids get into the backseat of a car when it was parked outside (R. 581-2). Shortly thereafter, after he had heard a shot, he saw the same man run to the car and again get in the back seat (R. 584-5).

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