TGEGKXGF.: B44235"35-45-56."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Ergtm"Uwr tgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD A. BLAKE

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-2102

L.T. No. CF02-05203A1-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and]
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com
COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

Mr. Jones testified that he ran in to Mr. Blake later in the day, and Mr. Blake was acting nervous. He said that Mr. Blake told him they were trying to do a robbery. Mr. Blake told him that someone got shot. He asked him to help him get rid of a gun. Mr. Blake did not have the gun with him. He told Mr. Blake that he would try to sell it to some Jamaican people. He also had contact with Richard Green later in that day. Mr. Green had a 9 mm gun. They tried to sell it to some Jamaicans, but they were unsuccessful. Later that night, possibly on the 13th he went with Mr. Green in Teresa Jones' car to a

lake. Mr. Green threw the gun into the lake, and it separated into two pieces as it flew through the air.

On cross-examination, Mr. Jones was confronted with a statement by defense counsel that he had given to Detective Raczynski on August 20, 2002, concerning what occurred during the early morning hours of August 12. In his statement, Jones told law enforcement that he, Richard Green and "Red Man" were talking about doing a robbery. In the statement he said that they tried to call Mr. Blake. When Mr. Jones testified that it was Mr. Blake's idea to do a robbery, defense counsel once again showed Mr. Jones the August 12 statement, and Mr. Jones agreed that what the statement said was correct. On further cross-examination Mr. Jones seemed to be saying that Mr. Blake suggested robbing people with some weed, then he said he didn't feel like it, and then he wanted to go rob someone.

The Court did not find the testimony that Richard Green gave at the evidentiary testimony to be credible. At his own trial, Mr. Green testified that Mr. Blake was the shooter.

The account Mr. Green gave of Mr. Blake's participation in the crimes was much more credible at his own trial.

The Court does not find that the testimony given by Vanbossell Preston at the evidentiary hearing was credible with respect to his testimony that Mr. Blake did not tell him that he admitted that he killed Kelvin Young. The Court finds that Mr. Preston's testimony at Mr. Blake's trial for the homicide of Kelvin Young was much more credible when he discussed Mr. Blake's participation in that homicide and said that Mr. Blake told him that he shot Kelvin Young.

As discussed above the Court does not find that the testimony given by Mr. Jones, Mr. Green, and Mr. Preston that allegedly constitutes newly discovered evidence to be credible or a truthful recantation. Claim VIII of the Defendant's Motion is denied.

(PCR 45/7689-95) (e.s.).

Argument

Blake's claim of "newly discovered evidence" is based, primarily, on the post-conviction testimony of his accomplice,

Richard Green. Green's prior sworn statements and testimony uniformly identified Blake as the "shooter." In post-conviction, Green declared that he is the "real" shooter. For years, Green denied his involvement in the murder of Mr. Patel. (GR V4/589-610; V5/611-638). Green is currently serving two separate sentences of life imprisonment, has concluded his direct appeal and post-conviction proceedings, and recognized that he can never face the death penalty for the murder of Mr. Patel. Green's post-conviction declaration is virtually "risk free." Moreover, as noted, the defense-disputed identity of the "shooter" does not undermine Blake's conviction.²⁰ See, *Stumpf*, 545 U.S. at 187 (concluding that the precise identity of the triggerman was immaterial to the defendant's conviction for murder); *Mendoza v. State*, 87 So. 3d 644, 655 (Fla. 2011) (where defendant was convicted of first-degree felony murder, identity of the shooter was not material).

Blake also relies on the "recanted" testimony of Demetrius Jones, who testified at trial about the actions of the trio [Green, Blake and Key] before the crime, the statements and behavior of Blake and Green after the shooting, and the disposal of the murder weapon by Green. And, Blake refers extensively to various hearsay

²⁰Blake's trial counsel knew that Blake had confessed and that Green also had identified Blake as the one who shot Mr. Patel. Blake admitted to his trial co-counsel, Al Smith, that he was the one who approached the door and the gun went off; Blake never said that Green was the one who shot Mr. Patel. (PCR V11/1850-1851). Blake never told Al Smith anything other than he was the person that was at the door when Mr. Patel got shot. (PCR V11/1852-1853).

and double-hearsay statements (such as the statements that Green purportedly made to Key and Key repeated to Demetrius), but Blake has not demonstrated that any of those hearsay statements would be admissible at the guilt phase.

“Recanted testimony that is alleged to constitute newly discovered evidence will mandate a new trial only if (1) the court is satisfied that the recantation is true, and (2) the recanted testimony would probably render a different outcome in the proceeding.” *Davis v. State*, 26 So. 3d 519, 526 (Fla. 2009). In *Spann, supra*, this Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief in another capital case where the defendant argued that he was entitled to a new trial based on a recantation by his accomplice. At trial, the State’s primary witness against Spann was his accomplice, Philmore. In post-conviction, Philmore denied that Spann had any involvement in the robbery or carjacking and murder of the victim. Philmore claimed he had “changed [his] life” and “decided it was time to tell the truth.” The trial court denied Spann’s motion to vacate, finding Philmore’s recantation “*not credible, untruthful, and exceedingly unreliable.*” Here, as in *Spann*, the “recantation” testimony of the post-conviction witnesses was rejected as not credible and not reliable.

In post-conviction, Demetrius Jones claimed that Blake did not ask him to get rid of the gun and that he was not with Green when he threw the gun into the lake. However, after Demetrius Jones was interviewed by law enforcement, Jones accompanied Detective

Raczynski to the lake and showed him where the gun had been tossed into the lake. (R V6/655). A dive team from the Sheriff's office recovered the firearm, which was missing the magazine clip. (R V7/692-694). The firearm recovered from the lake was the same firearm that discharged the bullet that killed Mr. Patel. The shell casing found outside of the store was fired from the same gun that was recovered from the lake. (R V7/730-735).

As previously noted, the trial court found that the post-conviction testimony of the recanting witnesses was not credible. Blake failed to establish that (1) the court is satisfied that the recantation is true and (2) the recanted testimony would probably render a different outcome in the proceeding.

ISSUE V

THE IAC/PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS CLAIM

In this issue, Blake asserts both a procedurally barred challenge to the prosecutor's statements at trial and a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase.

The Trial Court's Order

In denying Blake's intertwined post-conviction claim below, the trial court stated, in pertinent part:

In his Motion, the Defendant alleges that the prosecutor's statements throughout the Defendant's trial unfairly prejudiced him from getting a fair trial. The Defendant mentions a number of examples of statements by the Assistant State Attorney during the trial that he argues are improper. One of the State's witnesses was Teresa Jones. The Defendant alleges that "On direct examination, the prosecutor elicited testimony about Jones' fear of Mr. Blake and his family to explain why

she committed perjury before the grand jury as to the fact that Mr. Blake had been the one who removed two guns from the car." The Defendant also alleges that "Again, on redirect examination, in order to explain Jones' shifting stories about Mr. Blake's actions, the State brought up the fact that Jones had concerns for her safety." The Defendant alleges there is no evidence that Mr. Jones had been threatened by Mr. Blake or his family. The defense alleges that the prosecutor argued at the trial of Mr. Green that Mr. Jones' excuse that she feared Mr. Blake was fabricated.

The defense alleges that the prosecutor elicited improper character evidence from Mr. Blake during his cross-examination when he inquired about Mr. Blake's business of "stealing property and selling it." During cross-examination, Mr. Blake explained why he was crying on the videotape by saying, "when I get real mad, I cry." The defense alleges that this allowed the prosecutor to assert his theme of lack of remorse getting Mr. Blake to acknowledge that he wasn't "crying because you felt bad about what happened to Mr. Patel."

The defense argues that in the closing argument, the Assistant State Attorney pointed out that the arrest of Mr. Blake was very serious and the officers had to be "extremely careful with [Mr. Blake]. The defense alleges that the prosecutor also told the jury to look at Mr. Blake's demeanor on the stand." You had an opportunity to see Mr. Blake in this case when he testified, Mr. Blake, I would suggest to you, is incapable, incapable, of being told what to do. He had anger in his tone. He was combative with the questions that I was asking. He was not responsive to the things I was - that I was trying to get from him. He accused me of behaving like the detectives did.

* * * [omitted re: penalty phase]

To the extent that the Defendant is challenging the prosecutor's arguments, statements, or examination at trial on some basis other than ineffective assistance of counsel, the challenges are procedurally barred. See Floyd v. State, 18 So. 3d 432 (Fla. 2009). The Court finds that arguments made by the prosecutors that are the subject of Claim V constitute fair argument based on the evidence presented at the trial, fair comment on the evidence, or a proper response to the arguments made by the Defendant. See Franqui v. State, 59 So. 3d 82 (Fla. 2011). The Court also finds the arguments made by the

prosecutor regarding the circumstances of the underlying crimes do not constitute non-statutory aggravation. The Court finds that counsel's performance did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness with regard to the Claim V of the Defendant's Motion.

Additionally, the court finds that even if defense counsel was deficient in some manner with regard to raising proper objections to the arguments and statements of the prosecutor, such deficiency does not establish a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of his Trial. Claim V of the Defendant's Motion is denied.

(PCR V45/7683-85) (e.s.).

Argument

To the extent Blake argues that the prosecutor's comments themselves were improper, this issue is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal. See, *Jennings v. State*, 2013 WL 3214442, 14 (Fla. 2013).

As to the IAC claim, Blake does not identify any defense inquiry at the post-conviction hearing on his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to allegedly improper comments. As a result, this IAC claim is abandoned. In addition, Blake failed to demonstrate any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice. The defendant carries the burden to overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, trial counsel's actions might be considered sound trial strategy. See, *Zakrzewski v. State*, 866 So. 2d 688, 692-693 (Fla. 2003), citing *Ferguson v. State*, 593 So. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1992) ("The decision not to object is a tactical one.")

Furthermore, the prosecutor's arguments that are criticized by

Blake constitute fair argument based on the evidence presented. Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to a fair comment which is based on the evidence presented during the trial. *Spann v. State*, 985 So. 2d 1059, 1068 (Fla. 2008) (citing *Mungin v. State*, 932 So. 2d 986, 997 (Fla. 2006)). Moreover, in this case, as in *Franqui v. State*, 59 So. 3d 82, 97 (Fla. 2011), Blake failed to establish how the alleged instances of ineffective assistance of counsel prejudiced him – mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient. Here, as in *Franqui*, the majority of the prosecutorial arguments alleged to be improper were fair comment on the evidence or inferences arising from the evidence, or proper response to the arguments of defense counsel. Moreover, any alleged error, even if any arguably existed, which the State emphatically disputes, would have been harmless. See, *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE VI

THE AKE v. OKLAHOMA CLAIM

Lastly, Blake asserts a procedurally-barred claim based on *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087 (1985).

The Trial Court's Order

In denying this post-conviction claim below, the trial court's order states, in pertinent part:

The defense also asserts that Mr. Blake was entitled to adequate mental health examination concerning guilt phase issues. Mr. Blake's susceptibility to coercion, his understanding of the circumstances surrounding his interrogation, and issues of his culpability compared to

his co-defendant were not considered because no mental health expert was retained to consider these issues.

The defense alleges that Ake is extended to non-psychological [sic] experts and that Mr. Blake was denied his right to assistance of an expert in false confessions. An expert could have assisted Mr. Blake in showing that his statement was in fact false and not freely and voluntarily given.

To the extent the Defendant is arguing a substantive claim based on Ake v. Oklahoma, not based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, his claim is procedurally barred. See Floyd v. State, 18 So. 3d 432 (Fla. 2009). In Stewart v. State, 37 So. 2d 243, 255 (Fla. 2010), the Florida Supreme Court discussed the type of postconviction claim based on Ake that is not procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal. "In Stewart, the Court opined, "Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 84, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed. 2d 53 (1985), the United States Supreme Court concluded that in a sentencing proceeding, "due process requires access to psychiatric examination on relevant issues, to the testimony of the psychiatrist, and to assistance in preparation at the sentencing phase." While ordinarily a postconviction claim based on Ake is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal, a defendant is entitled to litigate during postconviction a claim that a prior mental health expert's examination was so "grossly insufficient" that the expert "ignore(d) clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage." Raleigh v. State, 932 So. 2d 1054, 1060 (Fla. 2006) (quoting Sireci, 502 So. 2d at 1224)."

The Court finds that a claim based on Ake v. Oklahoma is not applicable to the facts of this case. The Court does not find that Dr. Kremper's examination was grossly insufficient or that he ignored clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage. As more fully discussed in Claim IV of this Order, from a professional/ethical standpoint it was not appropriate for Doctor Kremper to be retained as the mental health professional by the defense when he had previously been retained by the State in another case involving Mr. Blake. The deficiency of counsel with respect to mental health mitigation is addressed by the Court in Claim IV of the Defendant's Motion. Claim VI of the Defendant's Motion is denied.

(PCR V45/7686-88) (e.s.).

Argument

Any substantive claim based on *Ake v. Oklahoma* is procedurally barred. *Floyd v. State*, 18 So. 3d 432 (Fla. 2009). Blake's claim that *Ake* also encompasses a "false confession" expert is not only procedurally barred, but meritless. In *Ake*, the Court held that "when a defendant has made a preliminary showing that his sanity at the time of the offense is likely to be a significant factor at trial, the Constitution requires that a State provide access to a psychiatrist's assistance on this issue if the defendant cannot otherwise afford one." *Ake*, 470 U.S. at 74, 105 S.Ct. 1087. As noted in *Conklin v. Schofield*, 366 F.3d 1191, 1206 (11th Cir. 2004), the Court in *Ake* limited its holding to psychiatric assistance. To the extent Blake relies on an IAC claim, the State relies on the arguments in Issue II of the instant brief.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments and citations of authority, the State submits that the trial court's order, denying relief on the guilt phase claims in Blake's Rule 3.851 motion to vacate, should be affirmed.